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Prologue

On the bright tropical morning of November 13, 1942, Capt. Gilbert C. Hoover stood on the open bridge of the cruiser USS Helena as it plowed southward off the coast of Guadalcanal and contemplated with a sense of wonder the tranquil, virtually waveless South Pacific waters that washed the shores of the Solomon Islands. After emerging from one of the wildest, most destructive sea battles in history, he could hardly believe there still existed a world so peaceful, so infinitely peaceful, reaching, it appeared, even beyond the barely perceptible horizon, where sea and sky blended into one seamless mantle of blue.

Suddenly, Hoover’s battle-glazed eyes focused on a streak of white foam that ripped across the ocean surface like the cut of an invisible knife. A torpedo! And it seemed headed toward his ship! Normally, Hoover was cool in a crisis, and once he even casually blew smoke rings after he had seen a submarine periscope poking out of the water nearby and ordered evasive action. Now, however, shaken and helpless, and hardly with time to gather his thoughts, he could envisage only the smoke that was about to coil from his “doomed” vessel.

But as Hoover chillingly braced for disaster, fate abruptly reversed course. The torpedo sped harmlessly past the stern of the Helena. Before Hoover could fully recover from his shock, the ship trembled from the impact of a tremendous thunderclap nearby. He looked around and saw a plume of white water soar a thousand feet into the sky, to be swallowed by a steaming brown cloud that stretched for more than half a mile across the ocean. Like an evil star hurled by some mad demon, a huge 5-inch gun mount flew leisurely over the Helena. Other pieces of lethal shrapnel rained down on the sea with a steely persistence that led some American ships in the area to sound an air-raid alert.

Hoover turned to an officer beside him and gasped, “My God, I can’t believe it!”

The torpedo that had streaked past his ship had blasted into another on his starboard quarter. It was the most awesome explosion Hoover had ever seen. And when the smoke finally cleared, he saw, with even greater dismay, nothing at all. The light cruiser USS Juneau, with almost seven hundred men aboard, had been limping along wounded and powerless when it suddenly vanished like a face in a dream.

Hoover’s consternation was all the greater since he had only hours earlier assumed command of the shattered remnants of a thirteen-ship task group that had survived a deadly night battle in which most of the ships—American and Japanese—were sunk or damaged, and the top U.S. commanders killed. Hoover, though a mere captain, was now the most senior officer alive and had thus become the new task group commander. Almost before he could absorb the full impact of the burden thrust upon him, he found himself faced with a dilemma that might have stumped Solomon: Should he search for survivors and try to knock out the submarine that had launched the torpedo, or should he flee with his ships before the submarine struck again?

Hoover sounded a general alarm calling all members of his crew to their battle stations, then paused to reflect on the Juneau’s seven hundred men, who had, in a few seconds, simply disappeared. The ship’s commander, Capt. Lyman Knut Swenson, was an old classmate from the Naval Academy—dear old “Swens.” Suddenly, he was gone. And there were the five Sullivan brothers, who had made headlines because they insisted on sailing together—even if they had to die together. Now surely they had.

Could there be any survivors? Of his battered flotilla of two cruisers and two destroyers, only one destroyer, the USS Fletcher, was undamaged and had the sound equipment and depth charges necessary to protect itself while searching for survivors and enemy submarines. A third destroyer, the O’Bannon, had been sent away so it could radio headquarters a report of the night battle without revealing the task group’s position.

But as Hoover scanned the sea with his binoculars, all he could see was a calm, glassy surface free of floating debris—human or otherwise. His lookout men, too, failed to detect any sign of life. Hoover hurriedly met with his top officers, who worshiped him as a brilliant skipper and a warm, down-to-earth human being. The captain’s rosy, usually animated face was now pale and impassive.

“I do not see how anyone could have survived,” he said. But should he send a destroyer to search—just to make sure?

No, his officers responded, no one could possibly be alive after such an explosion. The Juneau had split in two and disintegrated in seconds—there was no time for anyone to escape. And even if by chance a few men did, they would have to be sacrificed, for should the Fletcher be sent on this mission, the rest of the flotilla would be unprotected against another submarine strike. Had not headquarters sent word earlier that three enemy submarines were thought to be lurking in the area?

Hoover listened, then concluded that it didn’t make sense to risk another attack and the lives of hundreds more men.

It was just like the skipper, his officers felt. Always thinking about how to save lives.

And so the wisest option, all agreed, was to steam away as swiftly as possible.

Anyway, they could radio headquarters to send help, someone suggested.

No, Hoover replied, his task force was operating under radio silence, and the rule was very strict. He would not break the silence. As a captain suddenly thrust into an admiral’s boots, he was not about to disobey orders. The commander of the submarine, of course, already knew where the task group was, but perhaps he had not yet notified his headquarters.

Any qualms Hoover may have had about his decision were apparently dispelled when a B-17 darted into view. Let the pilot of that plane break radio silence! Hoover ordered a signalman to notify the pilot with blinkers that the Juneau had been sunk and that he should radio for help. With his conscience now at ease, Hoover signaled the Fletcher, which was already racing toward the scene of the disaster, to turn back, and he ordered all his ships to retreat rapidly from the area and continue cruising toward Nouméa, New Caledonia, his headquarters.

No man could have survived that explosion, Hoover repeated to his officers. He was doing the right thing—saving lives. Still, he wondered with gnawing uncertainty, would his superiors agree?

Whatever their reaction, about one hundred and forty men would not—the survivors of the Juneau, Bloody and hysterical, many without arms or legs, they clung to bits of debris and watched in agonized disbelief as the ships receded into the hazy distance, leaving them to the sharks and other terrors of the sea.
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Seed of Doubt


Eight months earlier, in March 1942, Capt. Swenson had realized his dream. He proudly stood on the bridge of the newly commissioned Juneau, the commander of a cruiser at last. But by May, as his sleek antiaircraft vessel was about to set out for its baptism of fire, reality had already tempered his elation. The night before his ship was to sail out of American waters for the first time, he went to see Adelaide Fullenwider, the widow of a fellow naval officer who had been his dearest friend.

Swenson and the Fullenwiders had been close since the early 1920s when the two young officers served on the USS Tennessee together. In the early 1930s, they shared adventures along the Yangtze River in China, where Swenson was commander of the USS Isabel river gunboat.

Adelaide congratulated her guest, expecting to find him jubilant over his new command, especially since he had an ebullient nature and usually found humor in even the harshest realities of life. It was his ultimate defense against adversity, to which he was no stranger. And now, finally, at fifty, he had reason to feel joyous, and it seemed he was not.

Swenson had changed. His straight-backed, lanky physique, nurtured on the basketball court, in the swimming pool, along the bridle path, and on other sporting grounds, seemed slightly hunched, and his piercing gray eyes lacked the familiar fire and ironic twinkle. Even his firm, determined jaw could not hide the look of a man in doubt.

“Adelaide,” Swenson said, “I’m proud of my ship, but if we get into a battle, we’re goners. We have no armor because we must carry heavy antiaircraft guns and move rapidly. The ship is poorly designed, and all we’re really good for is convoying.”

Adelaide was startled by Swenson’s uncharacteristic gloom. Yet she could understand his deep concern. The war was just a few months old and the United States was losing battles. Washington needed combat ships after losing much of its fleet at Pearl Harbor, and it wasn’t likely to keep a new cruiser out of enemy range no matter how vulnerable it was.

Actually, Swenson was worried not only because he felt his ship was unsuited for combat, but because he thought most of his men were unready for it. They were new recruits untested in battle and inadequately trained in the little time given them before their dispatch overseas. He was especially disturbed because the Navy, despite his protests, had assigned to his vessel all five Sullivan brothers, as well as the four Rogers brothers. If his ship went down, it would bear the stigma of having lost multiple family members—and this was not the fame he sought for it. When Swenson complained about this, the Navy simply replied that it was good public relations for so many members of the same family to serve on the same ship. Swenson was enraged. A captain had enough on his mind without having to worry about a mother losing all her sons in one fell swoop.

But Swenson’s troubles stretched beyond his ship and his men. The captain was plagued as well by tormenting personal problems. He was divorcing his second wife, Lauretta, and his case had been weakened by his long absence at sea. And now he would be sailing off again—and might never come back. If his wife became a widow, she would claim much of his estate, and he wanted to leave almost all his money to his two children from his first marriage.

In fact, Swenson had an obsessive need to serve his children—to make up for those tragic lost years….

Tragedy stemmed from a tempestuous first marriage with a beautiful San Francisco socialite, Milo Abercrombie, whom Swenson had wed in 1917, a year after graduating from the Naval Academy. Milo’s family had struck oil in Texas years earlier, and she now lived with her mother in a forty-two-room mansion. A spoiled, neurotic young woman who had been divorced from a German count, Milo demanded that her reluctant husband move into the house and mingle with the Nob Hill crowd, though he felt ill at ease at their cocktail parties amid gossipy dowagers and debutantes who utterly bored him.

Swenson’s roots were not in the silken swank of a pseudo-patrician society, but in the sacred soil of a pious one. His father had come from Denmark in 1856 armed with the Bible of Mormonism and settled in Pleasant Grove, Utah. Here he bought a hundred-acre farm, where he lived with a large family of brothers, sisters, and their brood in one harmonious community. When young Lyman was not studying Mormon doctrine, he eagerly worked the salty earth of Utah, which, to many Mormons, was almost a religious experience in itself, since salt, the Bible says, has “power to be the seasoning, savoring, preserving influence in the world.”

Swenson’s labor outdoors strengthened him not only spiritually but physically, and in school he excelled in sports. He also excelled, according to the Naval Academy yearbook of 1916, “as a breaker of hearts.” The charm of “lovable old Swens” lay not only in his infectious laugh, his gentle manner, and his refusal ever to utter an unhappy thought, but in his tactlessness, which gave him a reputation for complete honesty and sincerity that would follow him into the Navy. To his officers and men, he was still “lovable old Swens,” though they treated him with the by-the-book respect due a military superior.

Milo found Swenson lovable, too—until he refused to live indefinitely in her mansion together with a mother-in-law who appeared to feel that the blood of a Navy ensign was not quite blue enough to flow through the veins of her exclusive social set. Finally, after several years of marriage, Swenson packed his bags and moved out of the house, suing his wife for divorce and demanding custody of their two children.

When the court began leaning in Swenson’s favor, Milo became desperate and charged that her husband had molested their five-year-old daughter, Cecilia. After a bitter battle that graced the local newspapers with screaming headlines, the court rejected the charge and gave Swenson custody of his son and daughter. But Milo kidnaped them and, constantly moving around the country, managed to elude the father, though he feverishly searched for them.

While shattered by the loss of his children, Swenson further agonized over the slander of his character, which, despite his court victory, seriously damaged his career. He had served with distinction on a submarine in World War I and had commanded one after the war, but it was years before the Navy, which had been dismayed by the publicity the “scandal” generated, agreed to promote him again.

Finally, Swenson, tipped off in 1937 by one of Milo’s relatives, found his family in New York. He knocked on the door and, when it opened, stared into the startled eyes of a fifteen-year-old boy. They both knew instantly and fell into each other’s arms. But Cecilia shied away. For years, Milo had tried to poison the minds of her children against their father, and though the son, Robert, never believed her, Cecilia apparently did, perhaps, according to Swenson’s friends, after being led to fantasize events in her childhood.

A few years later, when World War II erupted, Swenson proudly saw his long-lost son through the Naval Academy and once even sailed the Juneau into the port of Annapolis just so Robert and his fellow midshipmen could visit him aboard the vessel. But Cecilia refused his money and his company. Pathetically, he pleaded for a reconciliation, but to no avail.

Swenson married a second time in 1929, but this marriage also crumbled when a dozen years later it grew clear that Lauretta had reneged on her promise to be a “mother” to his children. Selfish and extravagant, she was, once they were found, usually too busy to see them, Swenson’s friends say.

Despite all the tragedy, the heartache, and the humiliation, Swenson fought relentlessly to conquer misfortune. And though still tormented by his daughter’s rejection of him and the snail-paced divorce proceedings, he had largely triumphed. His son was devoted to him, and the Navy had let him command the destroyer squadron that took President Franklin D. Roosevelt to his historic meeting with Prime Minister Winston Churchill off the coast of Iceland in 1941, then had entrusted him with a cruiser, however belatedly, and promoted him from commander to captain.

But he was so tired, so emotionally drained. And if he had gained a son of his own, how many other sons might be sacrificed aboard his “papier-mâché” ship? Yet he loved his ship—his ship—as a father might love a handicapped child.

When Swenson left to rejoin his crew, Adelaide noted that his expression was unchanged. The burden of his enormous responsibility was still etched in his tensely lined face. She knew his concern was not for himself, but for his men, who did not suspect that their ship might soon be sailing into battle with the odds of survival pitifully low—and whole families at risk.
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The Five Sullivan Brothers


December 7, 1941, was a typical wintry day in the sleepy town of Waterloo, Iowa. Few people tramped the snowy streets in the bitter cold, and those who did were probably heading for the homes of relatives or friends, where they might savor a hearty meal of sausages or corned beef—perhaps processed by their own hands. For many of the townspeople worked in the giant Rath Packing Company that, with the Illinois Central Railroad and John Deere Tractor Company, dominated the economy of Waterloo.

Among the hungry residents inhaling the intriguing scents wafting from a kitchen that afternoon were four brothers, who, as they did every Sunday, lazily lounged in the simply furnished living room of a white frame house at 98 Adams Street. This was the home of Thomas Sullivan, a freight conductor on the railroad, who lived here with his wife, four of his five sons, his daughter, and mother-in-law. While the women prepared dinner, Tom sat silently listening, occasionally nodding, as his sons engaged in animated conversation, trying to compete with the shrill sound of music emanating from a static-plagued radio and the tinny sound of pots and pans rattling on the kitchen stove.

Usually the family chatted about the mundane domestic problems of the day—the electric light that wouldn’t go on, the garbage can blown over by the wind—or about the latest local baseball scores, the stupidity of the foreman at the Rath plant, where all five boys worked, the tattoos that decorated the arms of George, twenty-eight, and Francis (Frank), twenty-six. The two brothers proudly displayed the rippling anchors that had been indelibly ingrained in their skin while they were serving a four-year hitch in the Navy, which had ended a few months earlier, in June 1941. George, however, did not dare relate how he happened to be tattooed. On one shore leave, he had enough money either for a tattoo or a prostitute. So he flipped a coin, and the tattoo won.

Though George, a gunner’s mate second class, and Frank, a coxswain, had glimpsed life along the coasts of mysterious islands and distant continents, the family’s world seldom stretched beyond the boundaries of Iowa. But on this Sunday, the family talk reached to the shores of Europe and Asia, for the gathering war clouds could cast a long shadow over their lives. The headlines were shouting that the Japanese were greasing their guns. If war struck, not only would George and Frank be recalled, But two younger brothers, Joseph (Red), twenty-three, and Madison (Matt), twenty-two, would soon be at the front. Even the youngest, Albert, twenty, the sole married brother and the father of a one-year-old son, James, might be pulled into the struggle. Al was to join the group later in the evening.

Also, the brothers had many friends now in the service and were especially worried about Bill Ball, their closest buddy. He was aboard the battleship USS Arizona anchored in Pearl Harbor, together with his brother, Masten, and if war broke out, the Japanese might well attack that port. Before he joined the Navy in 1938, Bill, a farmer from nearby Fredericksburg, came into Waterloo every Thursday to join the Sullivan boys, their sister, Genevieve, and often their mother for an evening out at the Electric Park Ballroom. This was the highlight of the week for all of them, and an inexpensive way for the Sullivan boys to cavort with the girls.

There were plenty of girls to choose from, and each hoped to draw the brother wearing the single pair of Sunday shoes that the five young men could afford and thus shared. It was not easy prancing around with someone who seemed almost glued to the floor with work shoes or clodhoppers. Meanwhile, Bill monopolized Genevieve, a frail, attractive, soft-spoken girl who relished dancing with so handsome a partner, a natural athlete who aspired to become a professional baseball player. So close was Bill to the family that sometimes Genevieve, twenty-four at the time, couldn’t quite decide whether he was more like a sixth brother or a first boyfriend….

And so now, on Sunday, December 7, 1941, with war imminent, the brothers talked, and worried, about Bill. A night out at the Electric Park Ballroom just wasn’t the same without him.

Suddenly, the music on the radio stopped, and a voice tersely announced: “The Japanese have bombed Pearl Harbor!”

The family was stunned. Bill was there—on the Arizona. What had happened to him? Everyone sensed that the joy of youth, of life, in Waterloo would soon seem like a distant dream.

It was fun to be born in Waterloo in the first quarter of the twentieth century. For the railroad was fun. It hired, together with Rath, most of the able-bodied men in town, especially those who lived on the east side of the blue-green Cedar River, which crept indolently through the municipality. Here the railroad yard stretched along the narrow avenues of garden-garnished wooden homes that housed the engineers, conductors, signalmen, and others who made the trains run.

The Sullivans lived in one of these homes. The day always started right for the five sons, for what young boy would not enjoy waking to the sound of the long, whining whistle of a train rumbling by, and watching through the window the magic smoke that curled into odd forms as it rose with measured transparency into the blue morning sky. Almost every child in Waterloo aspired to become an engineer, the man who blew the whistle, arousing fantasies of far-off places full of adventure, mystery, and danger.

Many mornings, Tom Sullivan might just have debarked from the train, for normally he made the night run from Waterloo to Dubuque and back. The Illinois Central was the major freight carrier chugging between Chicago and Omaha, but for Tom, Dubuque not only marked the end of the line, but the end of the world, about the only world he knew.

At the age of sixteen, Tom, restless to be on his own, left the farm his parents had bought in Harper’s Ferry, Iowa, after emigrating from County Cork, Ireland. He hoped to become a cowboy, his childhood dream, but unable to find work chasing cattle in the dust of a prairie paradise, he settled for the more stifling dust of a Colorado mine. Hardly had he come up for air, however, when he rushed off to Waterloo to work as a brakeman on the railroad. At least it would no longer be night in the middle of the day and he could see the stars.

A fellow railroader, George W. Abel, grew fond of him and introduced him to his daughter, Alleta, whom the young man married in 1914. A year later, Abel was killed when a train ran over him, and Tom took his mother-in-law, May, into the Sullivans’ home. The household was typically Irish, harboring all the joys and sins that eternally blessed or plagued Irish life anywhere, though May’s family was not of pure vintage. Some of her ancestors had been Scottish, and her grandfather, Jewish.

“I guess you could say the boys are typical Americans,” she once remarked. “A good mixture makes good Americans.”

The home was, on the whole, a happy one. Still, May, a motherly woman with dark hair and bright eyes, never fully recovered from her husband’s untimely death, and even years later she was constantly evoking tender moments with him as if they had transpired yesterday. To keep her mind off the tragedy, she plunged into a housekeeping routine that consumed her from dawn to dinner—permitting her daughter, who had grown obese in the 1930s, to spend most of the day swaying in a rocking chair on the front porch.

Alleta had a pumpkinlike face with crescent eyes and a thin, curved smile. But her expression was stern as she sat fanning herself with a folded copy of the Waterloo Courier and imperiously presided over the street activities of her children and others, making sure they did not slam baseballs through glass windows or engage in brawls. Still, her eyes mirrored a glint of pride when her sons, who usually did not look for a fight, turned like tigers on anyone who dared attack or insult one of them.

They became well-nigh invincible after their father bought them boxing gloves and they trained among themselves. In fact, George would earn the nickname “John L.,” after the heavyweight boxing champion, and Frank would one day be the champion welterweight boxer of the USS Hovey, the destroyer on which the two brothers would serve. The boys threw their hardest punches when protecting the good name of sister Genevieve, whom they treated as a kind of revered mascot. More than once, Alleta ponderously rose from her squeaky throne and waddled to the cinder-paved street to intervene personally in a battle royal, especially if danger loomed for her brood. Other mothers on the block resented her. Always blaming their kids for starting a fight!

Meanwhile, after a night of railroading, Tom usually spent most of the day sleeping. He found his job as freight conductor tolerable and he loved his family, but he nonetheless felt cheated by fate. Why was he riding a train instead of a horse, working in moonlight instead of in sunlight—though moonlight, of course, was better than the gaslight of the mine. Whatever the cause of his underlying discontent, Tom found relief in drink. On awakening, he would often tiptoe to the garage to indulge a snort of whiskey or wine he had produced himself, unknown to his wife, who banned the “evil liquid” from the house.

Tom sometimes filled a thermos with the alcohol and took it to work. If he became intoxicated on the train, the understanding engineer would stop it before it reached the station so Tom could jump off without his not-so-understanding boss seeing him stagger into the morning.

Alleta, who ruled the family roost—except when her mother squealed out orders in her shrill, toothless voice—was incensed when she suspected her husband had been drinking. And she could usually tell not simply by his breath, but by the quality of his voice. Normally, Tom was silent. While others talked, he chewed tobacco and simply listened, his long Irish face with close-set, merry eyes and thin, easily smiling lips reflecting interest but little inclination to contribute even the most fleeting sound. When he did speak, he mumbled. Only when he drank did the words flow in a voice that was reasonably audible. This giveaway would trigger a verbal tempest that would last until Tom—immaculately dressed in a suit and vest becoming a man in his prestigious position—put on his hat, grabbed his lunch pail, and sheepishly shrank away to the railroad.

Despite these occasional domestic storms, life at 98 Adams Street was generally serene. This was perhaps surprising, since the parents were not strict disciplinarians and pretty much gave the children a free hand—as long as they didn’t use it to pound a neighboring boy into mincemeat. Tom, of course, was seldom awake during the day or around at night, though occasionally his Irish temper would flare when the boisterous antics of the boys disturbed his sleep. “Keep those sons of bitches quiet!” he would yell to Alleta through the window, forgetting for a moment that they were his sons.

On the other hand, Alleta, fairly anchored to the rocking chair by her obesity, had neither the strength nor the mobility to chase after them, aside from her occasional forays into the street. It was simply easier to leave them alone, though she tried to confine them to the backyard or the street in front of the house to keep them out of trouble. Anyway, George and Frank, the two elder boys, could usually be trusted to keep their brothers in line. Underscoring the family hierarchical psychology, the boys generally traveled in a pack, with the younger ones dragging a few yards behind the elder ones. As for Grandma May, she was a hopeless libertarian who constantly spoiled the children, and not a jar of sweets in the kitchen was off-limits to them.

Fortunately, the brothers needed little discipline, though they got into their share of mischief. Tom was furious when he discovered one day that his sons, who in their teens developed a taste for alcohol, had drunk all his wine in the garage. But what could he do—raise hell and let his wife know that he had hidden it for himself? The youngsters also occasionally stole watermelons out of railroad cars, and on Halloween they might push over an outhouse or break streetlights. After school they would often gather in a friend’s garage and smoke until they got sick.

Still, the Sullivan sons, though high-spirited, were probably as well-behaved as any youngsters in Waterloo and spent much of their time basking in a wholesome outdoor life that would have appealed to Huckleberry Finn. They rode wild ponies bareback in the pastures and went hunting for squirrels, rabbits, and pheasants (sometimes out of season) in the hills. Cedar River, though, was their favorite haunt. They bagged ducks and geese on the slow-flowing water and went fishing for bluegills, catfish, bullheads, and carp while lying on the crusty bank, perhaps picnicking and singing, as they loved to do, Irish ballads such as “Danny Boy” or “When Irish Eyes Are Smiling.” They went swimming there, too, and rafting or boating when the water was high enough, though they became somewhat wary of this sport after one terrifying incident.

The four older brothers patched up an old rowboat with dried mud and launched it, but the mud soon washed away and the boat began to sink. The boys, with three-year-old Albert in tow, were thrust into the water and carried downstream as they frantically tried to keep the baby’s head above the surface. When it looked as if they would all drown, the current, by some miracle, delivered them to shore just in time. This incident helped convince them that only by staying together would they all be saved in any future disaster. It also gave the older ones a greater sense of God’s presence and helped to induce them to attend Sunday mass more regularly, even though their parents, while devout Catholics and rock-solid members of St. Mary’s parish, did not strongly press them to do so.

Alleta was too immobilized to go to church herself and often had the priest come to her instead. And Tom, as he got older, only attended sporadically, for after returning from the railroad on Saturday night, he needed sleep more than prayer. But his sons usually showed up, if sometimes with a hangover. God, they felt, would probably pull them out of the river next time whether they went to church or not, but why take the chance? The church was a kind of insurance policy.

Tom and Alleta also did not insist that their sons finish high school, though hoping they would. After all, with the Depression, many students were dropping out to seek work. Tom clung to his job of freight conductor, dealing with bills of lading and other documents, and was able to support his family with his salary of about eight dollars a day. But the bad times had nevertheless hit the Sullivan household. There was less food on the table, while Tom no longer could afford to dress elegantly so that people would know he was of some importance. He thus went to work now in shabby old shirts and trousers. Let everyone know that for all the prestige of his job, he was a simple railroad man with hands callused by hard work from days past, hands that the clothes of a dandy could never really hide.

And so there was little objection when the boys said they would look for work. They had never relished school anyway—especially St. Mary’s, where they constantly sought distractions from the nuns’ religious teachings. One time, Frank was soundly slapped by the presiding sister after he chased another pupil around the classroom and knocked over a statue of the Virgin Mary. Soon, by mutual agreement, the boys left St. Mary’s to attend a public school, but stayed only for two years. Genevieve was the sole Sullivan to graduate.

Since it was traditional for at least one son of a rail-roadman to follow in his father’s profession, George, in 1932, got a job on the railroad, still clinging to the dream that he would one day be an engineer with the privilege of blowing the whistle. George was perhaps the most moody of the brothers. In photos, he was often the only unsmiling one, and his eyes, set in a square, rugged face, had a kind of brooding look, which his large, clenched jaw accentuated—a look perhaps reflecting the heavy burden of caring for his younger siblings.

Like his father, George did not talk much—until he imbibed a beer or two. He would then loosen up, and his sense of humor would bubble forth, as if from the bottle itself. A few more drinks and he would almost be transformed into the life of the party. And he sometimes was, especially at the dances he loved to attend with his family and Bill Ball. Surely if his partner happened to be Ruth Leet, who, with the beer, brought out the “devil” in him. The couple also roller-skated together, held hands at the Saturday matinee movie, and occasionally raided watermelon-loaded boxcars, feeling the momentary thrill of a Bonnie-and-Clyde relationship.

Though the brothers were not usually jealous of one another, Ruth remembers that George and Red got into a hassle because George felt his younger brother was trying to steal his girl. “George was my first date,” Ruth reminisces. “We loved each other and he would do anything for me. He was so warm and tender.”

But when George began working on the railroad, he had little time to show tenderness to any of his several girlfriends. He started by shoveling coal, then worked the signal switches. He didn’t mind the job, but he did the hours. He was on call day and night and could be fired if he missed a few calls. Normally, “call boys” bicycled to the worker’s home, or more often to the saloons, to inform the unlucky victim that he must rush to the station. But since the Sullivans had a telephone, George sat night after night waiting for a call to duty—while his brothers and friends were drinking, dancing, raising hell. When his yearnings grew irresistible, however, he would sometimes leave the phone to pursue his fancies.

With his first paycheck as a signalman, he bought a case of liquor—each one-fifth of whiskey cost a whopping one dollar and fifty cents—and threw a party at his uncle’s farm that, even today, his friends describe with joyous nostalgia. George walked in with a tall, willowy teenager, Irene, who, after consuming her first drinks ever, threw off her clothes and danced around stark naked in the swirling haze of a wild, unforgettable night that ended with George and the others tossing the screaming young woman into a water tank.

George’s boss was among those who apparently couldn’t forget. The trains may not have stopped running that night because George Sullivan, the signalman, was beyond the reach of even the most relentlessly pursuing “call boy,” but he soon found himself out of a job.

This put Frank, who had also been working for the railroad, in an awkward position. Since he was shy and reserved, even when drinking, and cared more about boxing and baseball than girls, he didn’t feel the job impinged that much on his social life and was glad to have it. It was perhaps his less flamboyant tastes and willingness to follow the rules that had given him the stamina and perseverance to become a boxing champion. Even his infrequent, rather toothy smile, which lit up a long, narrow face compressed between large ears, seemed to suggest he would rather be taking a punch than a picture. And he was serious about his job as he was about everything he did. But if the younger boys looked up to Frank, in part because of his resoluteness, Frank looked up to George. And when George left the railroad, apparently fired, his brother proved his loyalty by leaving it, too.

As the Depression deepened, reaching a nadir in 1936, when Iowans suffered from a severe drought in the summer and a record cold in the winter, a job in Waterloo became almost as rare as rain. So, in 1937, George and Frank, hungry for adventure anyway, joined the Navy.

Times gradually improved, however, and the other three brothers, Red, Matt, and Al, as well as Genevieve, managed to land jobs at Rath’s, joining about 5,600 other workers there. Rath was the largest independent meatpacking house in the United States and the main industry in Waterloo before John Deere Tractors expanded. And the pay started at sixty-five cents an hour—more than the railroad offered.

Even so, Red, in particular, was unhappy. He hated the dull routine: chop up the frozen meat; thaw it out; run it through a grinder; dump it in a mixer; cool it; cure it; stuff it into a celluloid casing; tie it up; hang it in the smokehouse; cool it again; dry it; hang it on rails—all this work so some slob could gnaw on a lousy sausage! Red couldn’t wait until the bell rang and he could punch the clock and, in his fantasy, the foreman who goaded him to work faster.

Actually, speed was Red’s specialty. He had saved up enough money to buy a motorcycle with an earlier part-time job carrying ice to the boxcars, and no one in town could beat him in the cross-country race and the motorcycle hill climb. The climb, especially, was dangerous, and his parents urged him to conquer his competitive urge. But Red wouldn’t hear of it. His daring had made him one of the most popular figures in Waterloo—except with the police. Just to defy them, on Sunday mornings before church he would thunderously barrel through the city streets, waking the whole neighborhood and stirring the killer instincts of the cops. They could never catch him. Wherever Red parked his motorcycle, people would gather around to admire their hero and his magic vehicle. It was not surprising, therefore, that he asked himself: Should a hero be lugging meat around all day?

It was Red himself and not only his motorcycle exploits that appealed to people. The best-looking of the five brothers, he had wavy red hair, a warm, slightly tilted smile, and blue, whimsical eyes. He had an engaging personality and a sensitivity that charmed the ladies, though sometimes it led him to the brink of battle with anyone who might malign him, his family, or his motorcycle. In the telling words of a friend, he “wouldn’t take shit from nobody.”

If Red often left women swooning in his wake, he was looking for a special kind of girl he could cherish as much as he did his motorcycle, one he would recognize at first glance. Meanwhile, his motorcycle remained the prime object of his affection. He was, in any case, happy just to form new friendships with both men and women, and he needed friends more than his brothers did. The two eldest, George and Frank, were especially close, as were the two youngest, Matt and Al, and each of these twosomes had friends their own age. But Red was the lonely one in the middle—a little too young for one group, a little too old for the other. So he found it hard to leave, even temporarily, the world his motorcycle had opened up and enter one that smelled of salted beef and sausage and gave frustrated bacon bureaucrats power over men of spirit like him.

Matt, too, was tired of the meatpacking world, but apparently not for the same reasons. Understandably, since the two brothers had contrasting personalities. Matt resembled George in many ways and even looked like him. He was reserved, sometimes withdrawn. Still, his eyes usually reflected good cheer, seldom the melancholy often mirrored in George’s eyes. Women found him “gentle” and “sweet,” and many were captivated by his smile.

But Matt didn’t often smile at work. He had no image to preserve as the gregarious Red did, and he found his job easy. That was the trouble; it lacked challenge. Probably the most ambitious of the Sullivan brothers, Matt told friends that after saving some money, he hoped to finish high school and then look for a higher-paid administrative job. He didn’t want to lug meat around the rest of his life any more than Red did.

Although younger than Red, Matt felt, as his older brother did, that he had enjoyed the single life long enough and was eager to settle down. But unlike Red, he was too shy to pursue the ladies aggressively. He perhaps envied his younger brother, Albert, who was engaged to be married.

Actually, all of Albert’s brothers seemed a bit disturbed that the baby of the family, only seventeen, planned to marry first and would present their parents with their first grandchild. What’s more, the girl was from the west side, where people were of a different breed—largely white-collar workers, who never used their hands except to write reports, and the businessmen they worked for, who had nice homes and cars and viewed the poor workers on the east side with a certain contempt. Gangs from both sides frequently attacked each other, and school teams from both played each other with the ferocity of medieval gladiators fighting to the death.

Even so, the family liked Katherine Rooff, or Kena, Al’s fiancée. She was gentle, pretty, thoughtful. But she was still west side. Her father, though beginning life in Waterloo as a Bulgarian immigrant, had owned a popular beer garden before he died, and the uncle who raised her was a contractor in the construction business. A cousin was in the plumbing business, a second one in hardware, and a third in real estate. People who may have started poor, but who now had money, prestige, and power. And Katherine had finished high school, while Al had completed only two years.

It was a mistake marrying into a family that might look down on his own. Westsiders! … And besides, Al was so young. Why couldn’t he wait—like his brothers?

But Al wouldn’t listen. He seldom did—yet usually got his way. Though the youngest brother, Al, in a sense, led the pack, shrewdly using his comparative youth to demand attention, knowing when to whine, when to pout. The family could seldom resist his entreaties.

Al, who was shorter and thinner than his brothers, was perhaps the most affable of the brood. Like Matt, he smiled often, though he was far more outgoing, and looked somewhat like a young Irish Frank Sinatra, with a bony face and flashing eyes. He was usually satisfied with whatever fate had in store for him, and even liked his job at Rath’s, humming Irish tunes as he ground rounds of beef or hauled racks of lamb. In fact, according to his foreman, Al was “tickled to death” with his job.

Especially after he met Katherine, who, seeking an independent life, worked in the sliced-bacon department. Six months later, in May 1940, they were married. The wedding took place in St. Mary’s Church in a ceremony that brought the east and west sides together in a rare display of civic unity. At the reception that followed, raucous railroaders, potbellied politicians, brazen businessmen, and muscular meat carriers sat side by side popping dumplings and beef patties into their mouths and sipping homemade wine and prized whiskey drawn in part from the precious stocks that Tom Sullivan had hidden in his garage. The best man was Katherine’s cousin, Leo Rooff, who would one day become mayor of Waterloo and the symbol of a city struggling for harmony. Less than a year later, a son, James, screamed his way into the world, the product of a municipal as well as a marital union.

Shortly, George and Frank returned home after their four-year stint in the Navy and joined their three siblings as employees of Rath. Now there were two more disgruntled brothers. After four years at sea, imbibing the excitement of new places, drinking in exotic bars, learning how to use new weapons, it wasn’t easy exchanging a cannon for a meat cleaver. But with the cataclysm at Pearl Harbor, the time had come to put down the cleaver and return to the cannon.

“That means Frank and I are going back,” George said when the news of war echoed through the static in the Sullivan living room.

Frank agreed. “Yes, and the sooner the better.”

Red and Matt then said they would go, too.

Albert suddenly rushed in. “Have you heard the news?” he cried. “I wonder if Bill was in it.”

With trepidation, they pondered the worst. Surely the Arizona must have been hit. But they braced themselves with brave words. Bill Ball could take care of those “Japs.”

When Al learned of his brothers’ plan to join the Navy, he said he would enlist, too. But he had a family, the others pointed out. He couldn’t just leave Katherine and the baby.

“Don’t worry,” Al replied. “She’ll understand.” She would want him to do his part.

His brothers surrendered.

“Well, I guess our minds are made up, aren’t they, fellows?” George said. “And when we go in, we want to go in together. And if worse comes to worst, we’ll all go down together.”

When the boys saw their mother come in from the kitchen in tears and knew she had overheard them, one of them reassured her, “Don’t worry, Mom, we’ll be back.”

Alleta didn’t try to persuade them to wait. She knew her sons; they would not change their minds.

“The boys were fatalists about it,” she would later say. “They felt that when your number was up, there was nothing you could do about it but die fighting. They would take their chances together.”

She consoled herself with the thought that George and Frank were, after all, seasoned sailors. They would know how to protect the younger ones. Anyway, they would have to serve their country sooner or later. So Alleta dried her eyes and stoically accepted their decision. And Tom, waiting as usual for a cue from his wife, remained as silent as ever.

But the Navy was not so pliant. It had a policy of splitting families in wartime so that if a ship was hit, no more than one family member could be counted among the casualties. The Sullivans, however, were resolute. They marched into the Navy recruiting center and made their request to an officer. Would he promise to let them stay together? they asked. Otherwise they would not enlist voluntarily.

The officer was astounded. Never before in the history of the Navy had five brothers served on the same warship. He was sorry, but he couldn’t make any promises. Their request was contrary to Navy policy.

The brothers rushed home and whisked off a letter of protest to the Navy Department in Washington, and shortly they received a reply. After careful consideration, the letter said, the Navy agreed to waive its rule on family enlistments and let the four unmarried boys stay together. But, according to Navy rules, Al was exempt from military service because he was a family man and would not be accepted.

Al was livid. He would not be left behind, he cried, and Katherine remained silent. She needed her husband and the baby needed his father, but, understanding the relationship of the five brothers, she felt she could not oppose his enlistment. If the Navy, however, refused to take him …

After much angry letter-writing and table-pounding, the Navy decided to break yet another rule. It did need men desperately—and five brothers aboard the same ship would make bigger headlines than four. Could it ask for a better recruiting angle? The Sullivans could all fight together. And presumably die together, too.

The Sullivan boys were elated, experiencing the sensation they felt as kids when, to save the family honor, they clobbered any neighborhood gang that dared to insult one of them. And this time Mama wouldn’t be shouting commands from her rocking chair to stop the fight before someone got hurt. Elation, however, soon melted into grief when news came that Bill Ball had been killed aboard the Arizona, and his brother wounded, during the Pearl Harbor attack. The Sullivans boiled with a new motivation. They would be fighting not simply for their country, but for Bill; they would wreak vengeance on his killers.

The family spent the Christmas holidays together, exchanging gifts and leafing through an album filled with snapshots of George and Frank as sailors, posing on their ship and in remote corners of the globe. Days of fun and romance that for a few hours made the brothers forget their grim vow and dream of their coming adventure as if they were planning a pleasure cruise.

But reality soon burst the bubble of fantasy. And on January 2, 1942, the day before the boys were to depart for boot camp, they visited St. Mary’s Church together with Katherine to witness the baptism of Al’s baby. Al wanted Jimmy baptized before he left—just in case he wouldn’t be back for the event.

The next morning, before embarking on their journey, the brothers attended mass and received a blessing from their priest, Father Clarence Piontkowski, whom they had liked ever since they were students at St. Mary’s School, though they thought less of the nuns he picked to teach them. Crabby old women who slapped them with rulers for alleged misbehavior and lack of interest in Bible study. Yet now the brothers wished they had a more intimate knowledge of the Book. It would be easier to die if they had to.

The next day, the Sullivans and other Waterloo youths exulted in a tumultuous send-off at the railroad station, where relatives, friends, and others who had touched their lives gathered to wish them well—schoolteachers, priests, neighbors, politicians, fellow workers, and members of Red’s motorcycle club, who shouted, “Good luck, Nine Lives,” a nickname Red had earned because he had so frequently emerged intact after motorcycle accidents. No one could kill Red!

As the train was about to pull out, Matt embraced his mother, who was trying to suppress tears, and said, “Don’t worry, Mom. How could anything happen to us if we stick together and protect each other?”

And amid a forest of waving arms, the train groaned out of the station, gathered speed, and hurtled toward the unknown, its whistle blowing furiously, reminding the Sullivans of a childhood aglow with this call to adventure, glory, and a utopian destiny.

Shortly the Sullivans were simulating battle at the Great Lakes Training Center, then, in early February 1942, marking time at the Brooklyn Navy Yard, where they were assigned, on their request, to a new light cruiser that had just been commissioned there—the USS Juneau. In the receiving station at Pier 92, George began talking with a fellow volunteer over coffee in the canteen.

“Did you ask to be on this ship?” the man asked.

“Sure did,” George replied. “We heard it’s the fastest fighting ship there is.”

“We asked also,” the stranger said. “We even wrote the President.”

“We?”

“Yeah, the four of us—the Rogers brothers. I’m Joey. We want to fight, but we also want to live through this war. So why not get on the best damn ship in the Navy?”
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The Four Rogers Brothers


It was not surprising that Joseph Rogers and his three younger brothers, Patrick, Louis, and James, wanted to fight. They had been fighting all their lives. Joey was, in fact, a professional boxer, and the others, semipros, all of them potential champions. Nor was their battle simply against other boxers. They had been fighting adversity, and themselves, since childhood. For they were the children of a mobster, whom they loved dearly even as they sought to hide his shady triumphs behind conquests of their own.

The boys’ father was Thomas Rogers, a second-generation Italian American who, while growing up on the streets of New York in the early 1920s, earned a living as an enforcer for the notorious bootlegger, Ownie Madden. In this era of Prohibition, either speakeasies would buy beer and whiskey from Madden, or the burly Rogers, once an amateur boxer himself, would lay waste the establishment.

Rogers lived a good life, until one day federal agents chased him into the subway, where he climbed on the roof of a moving train, fell off, and lost part of his foot under the wheels. A watchman took him to the hospital, and the agents never found him. But he began to wonder if gangland life offered him much of a future. And his doubts grew when he married a young, deeply religious Irish girl, Winifred, who, ironically, believed he worked for the subway. When she finally suspected the truth, she pleaded with her husband to leave the gang and New York. He knew such a move could invite death, but he agreed.

And so, at three A.M. one morning, the couple, with their children and only a suitcase of clothes, fled to Darien, Connecticut, where they moved into a five-room house. Rogers then changed his profession from mob enforcer to paperhanger and housepainter.

But Winifred soon died of tuberculosis during her sixth pregnancy, and her husband, overcome with grief, blamed himself for making her suffer. He blamed God, too, and refused to set foot in church ever again. And as if in deliberate defiance of God, he returned to his old ways—but not to his old gang, which was avidly searching for him. Why plaster walls when he could peddle booze? Besides, didn’t he have a large family to support?

Rogers shortly remarried and bought four acres of land in nearby Ridgefield, moved there, and built a gas station and a refreshment stand—as a cover for a bootlegging business. In his house, he constructed a secret room that could be entered only by standing on the toilet and crawling through a medicine cabinet. Here, he turned out whiskey by the gallon, with the help of his eldest son, Joey, who knew nothing about his father’s past.

Then, one day when he was twelve, Joey found out. A large car pulled up, and four men stepped out. “Where’s Tommy?” they asked.

“Back there somewhere,” Joey replied, pointing to the garden.

About twenty minutes later, he saw his father, pale and frightened, being led back by the strangers. Apparently Tommy Rogers had made a deal with Ownie Madden’s men, promising them a cut of his bootlegging profits. When the men had driven off, Joey asked his father:
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